Charles University, Faculty of Science, Department of Ecology

Study program: Ecology



Javier Oñate Casado

Patterns of song variation in migratory and sedentary birds:

A comparison of two sister pipit species

Variabilita zpěvu u migrujících a sedentárních pěvců: porovnání dvou sesterských druhů lindušek

Doctoral dissertation Supervisor: Tereza Petrusková

Prague, 2024

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

I declare that this dissertation has not been submitted for the purpose of obtaining the same or another academic degree earlier or at another institution. My involvement in the research presented in this dissertation is expressed through the authorship of the included publications and manuscripts. and my personal contribution to the conception, data collection, curation, analysis and manuscript writing for each of the following chapters is truthfully described in the "chapters and author's contributions" section. All literature sources I used when writing this dissertation have been properly cited.

Prague, 06.08.2024

Javier Oñate Casado M.Sc.

As a supervisor of this dissertation and a co-author of all involved studies and manuscripts, I declare that the contribution of the PhD-student, Javier Oñate Casado, to the published, submitted and finished manuscripts can be considered more than sufficient to justify the inclusion of these papers in this PhD dissertation.

Prague, 06.08.2024

RNDr. Tereza Petrusková, Ph.D.

Terrer Pul

FUNDING STATEMENT

The research presented in this dissertation was financially supported by the Technology Agency of the Czech Republic (project no. TA04021269), the Czech Science Foundation (project no. 21-04023 K), and various resources of Charles University (Charles University Grant Agency project no. 400422, and SVV projects no. 260569 and 260436).



Berthelot's Pipit at Charco de la Araña with the Teide volcano in the background, Tenerife (Canary Islands, Spain)

CONTENTS

CHAPTERS AND AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTIONS	
PREFACE	6
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
ABSTRACT	
ABSTRAKT	
INTRODUCTION	
Individuality in acoustic signals	
Scaling up: Song variation across geographic scales	
OVERVIEW OF CHAPTERS AIMS AND HYPOTHESES	
PIPITS AS MODEL SPECIES	
OUR STUDY SITES	
CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
REFERENCES	
CHAPTER 1	
CHAPTER 2	
CHAPTER 3	

CHAPTERS AND AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTIONS

Chapter 1

Oñate-Casado, J., Porteš, M., Beran, V., Petrusek, A., Petrusková, T. (2023). Guess who? Evaluating individual acoustic monitoring for males and females of the Tawny Pipit, a migratory passerine bird with a simple song. *Journal of Ornithology*, 164: 845–858.

JO-C: conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, funding acquisition, visualization, writing – original draft, writing – review & editing.

Chapter 2

Oñate-Casado, J., Porteš, M., Beran, V., Petrusek, A., Petrusková, T. (2021). An experience to remember: lifelong effects of playback-based trapping on behaviour of a migratory passerine bird. *Animal Behaviour*, 182: 19–29.

JO-C: data curation, formal analysis, visualization, writing – original draft, writing – review & editing.

Chapter 3

Oñate-Casado, J., Porteš, M., Beran, V., Pérez-Granados, C., Traba, J., Barrero, A., Sakhalkar, S, P., Petrusek, A., Petrusková, T. (manuscript submitted). When individuality obscures geographic song variation: a comparison of two passerine sister species with different migratory strategies

JO-C: conceptualization, data collection, data curation, formal analysis, funding acquisition, visualization, writing – original draft, writing – review & editing.

PREFACE

It has been a long journey to get to this point, and it feels appropriate to reflect on where and when my adventure into scientific research began. Back in 2016, as an undergraduate with practically no research experience and limited confidence in expressing myself in a foreign language, I found myself on the Big Island of Hawai'i. At that time, a PhD was not even on my radar; I could not even imagine that I would one day have the chance to pursue this path. However, my determination to achieve whatever I set my mind to never wavered.

The LOHE Bioacoustics Lab gave me my first opportunity to work in bird behaviour and bioacoustics, but above all, introduced me to the essence of research by encouraging me to conduct my own project from scratch, to freely explore ideas and to develop my thoughts without limitations. This experience ignited my passion for research, a lesson for which I will be always grateful.

The image below symbolizes this key moment in my life. Working on the Hawai'i 'Elepaio on the northeastern slope of Mauna Loa Volcano, I discovered my calling. Many experiences since then have shaped my journey to this point. And with many more to come, this is just the beginning. I can't wait to see what comes next.



Illustration of male (lower) and female Hawai'i 'Elepaio (Chasiempis sandwichensis) by Sailee Pradeep Sakhalkar.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There is no better way to begin than by expressing my deepest gratitude to Tereza and Adam. Thank you both so much for all your support throughout this challenging but exciting journey. I must emphasize that I will never be able to thank you enough for giving me the opportunity to work on what I love and to share this experience with Sailee in Prague. I can now say that you both are like family to me.

Tereza, thank you for believing in me, sometimes more than I believed in myself, and for always pushing me to be a better scientist, even if it sometimes led to disagreements. We went through some turbulence in the beginning, but I am glad that we managed to have a nice relationship based on mutual honesty. Most importantly, thank you for being such a sympathetic supervisor and always being there for me whenever I needed it.

Adam, thank you for allowing me to learn from your work ethic and for encouraging me to strive for perfection in my work. Your influence has undoubtedly made me a more versatile and well-rounded scientist. I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Portuguese Navy, travelling on their ship gave me the chance to see the sweetest and most childlike side of Adam. Seeing Adam enjoying himself like a child, while chatting with the captain about the operation of the ship and tasting sea bass with the rest of the crew is a priceless memory.

A huge thank you to all my collaborators who, to varying extents, contributed to the success of this thesis: Vašek Beran, Michal Porteš, Adrián Barrero, Juan Traba, Cristian Pérez Granados, and Dimitris Papandropoulos. Special thanks to Rob Lachlan and Lies Zandberg for revealing the secrets of the Luscinia software to me; this saved me from countless hours of stress in front of the monitor. I must also mention Juan Carlos Illera, thank you for showing me where Berthelot's Pipits hide and for your continuous advice on island biogeography and how to navigate the academic world.

I am also very grateful for the support of the Department of Ecology and all of its members who took the time to help me or just to have a chat with me. Special thanks to all the members of the secretariat, especially Anna and Mariana, for solving all my doubts and requests whenever needed, they made my life much easier.

Thank you to Pavel Linhart, for giving me the opportunity to be part of the CEUS team, and for the kind advice whenever I asked for it. Thanks to you, I met Malavika and Lia, very supportive PhD fellows and friends for life.

Thanks to all the students of the Bioacoustics Group I have had the chance to help, especially Belfu and Terka. I am very grateful to have been there to support you and witness your growth throughout your theses. As Phil Collins says in "Son of Man": "*In learning, you will teach, and in teaching, you will learn.*" I also want to thank a former member of this group, Abel. Although we did not overlap in our time here, he provided me with the advice and support that only a former PhD student can give.

I am deeply grateful for my time in the LOHE lab and the TROPIMUNDO program, and for every person I had the fortune to meet through these experiences. They were two of the most memorable moments of my life, and although they did not directly contribute to my thesis, they certainly prepared me for the challenges I faced later in my PhD journey. I owe them a part of my success.

Thanks to all the great people I met in Prague over the last 4 years. Loui, thank you for being such a pure soul full of contagious joy; I hope Texas is treating you well. Vojta, thank you for the scientific discussions, for the unforgettable experience of the Fledglings Meeting, and for fico d'Italia. Jeff, what a nice surprise to meet you, and what a nice connection in just a few weeks, we have pended a field trip to the Galapagos. Constantinos, thanks for the nice and engaging conversations about whatever, the discussions on how to kidnap Pascal, and for introducing melomakarona into my life. Guillermo, from our roots in Arganzuela to fighting hand in hand to get a PhD in Prague; thanks for being a great partner of joys and sorrows on this journey—nosotros siempre elegimos aventura. Riccardo, mio fratello, pure calm and always with the right words to say to me in stressful moments. Thanks for dealing with my constant attempts to monopolize the acoustic space in the office and for sometimes even joining me, and of course for all the great Italian meals you have fed me over the last 4 years. I also want to acknowledge everyone from the Cibulkach crew who crossed my path; thank you for any given advice, those marathons of complaining and the evening chats over tea, beer or whisky.

To Sailee and Hazel, my family, you mean everything to me. Sailee, thanks for always being there, for giving me calm and perspective in difficult moments, for being the way you are, and of course, for your endless patience and for putting up with the restless Javi. There are no words to thank you for bringing Hazel to our lives and starting a family here in Prague. Soon you will be the one defending your thesis, just one last push; I know you will get it "luchadora". Hazel, my baby dog, thanks for making my day to day much nicer and for the love and mental health you have brought to my life. Without you two I would never have reached this point.

To my family in Spain. Mil gracias a Rosa, Goyo, Laura y Yara. Por su incondicional apoyo en cada decisión que he tomado, y aunque a veces difícil, intentar entender las curiosidades y entresijos del mundo

de la investigación. Especial agradecimiento a mi madre, esta tesis te la dedico a ti. No puedo olvidarme de mis padres postizos, Nieves y Jose, gracias por siempre escuchar con gran entusiasmo mis historietas de bichólogo.

My last thank you goes to the pipits, for teaching me patience, one of my greatest weaknesses. I hope our paths will cross again.

ABSTRACT

Individuality in acoustic signals is crucial for animal communication, facilitating individual recognition across diverse taxa and social contexts. This PhD thesis examines the role of individual vocal signatures in the behaviour, ecology, and conservation of bird species, focusing on the Tawny Pipit (*Anthus campestris*) and the Berthelot's Pipit (*A. berthelotii*). A series of interlinked studies in this thesis assesses the potential of individual acoustic monitoring (IAM) as a non-invasive method for studying and conserving these species.

Chapter 1 investigates IAM's suitability for both male and female Tawny Pipits, a migratory species critically endangered in Central Europe. The findings confirm that Tawny Pipits possess simple, individually distinct songs that are temporally stable within and between seasons. This supports IAM as a reliable approach for monitoring this species, providing a proof of concept for its application in passerines with small repertoires and simple songs.

Building on these insights, Chapter 2 evaluates the long-term behavioural effects of playback-associated mist netting on male Tawny Pipits. The study reveals that males remember negative experiences associated with mist-netting for several years, modifying their responses to similar stimuli in future encounters. This underscores the potential of IAM to replace invasive monitoring practices, which can negatively impact individuals' behaviour and health, thus reinforcing the conclusions from Chapter 1 regarding the advantages of non-invasive monitoring.

Chapter 3 extends the methodology validated in Chapter 1 to Berthelot's Pipits, confirming song individuality in this sedentary island species endemic to Macaronesia. By comparing song variation across geographic scales between Tawny and Berthelot's Pipits, this chapter explores the similarities and differences between the species, evaluating the potential influence of migratory behaviour and population isolation on song divergence. Contrary to our expectations, we found no region-specific song characteristics in either species, possibly due to rapid cultural evolution in birds with simple but individually unique songs, which can override founder effects. Both species exhibited high intrapopulation song variation and increased mean song differentiation at broader scales. In Berthelot's Pipits, however, the gradient of song differentiation was more pronounced, showing higher mean song similarity at the smallest spatial scale, presumably due to their sedentary nature, and the highest mean song dissimilarity between two subspecies of Berthelot's Pipits, which inhabit the Madeira and Canary archipelagos, respectively. This comparative study provides hints into how different ecological and life history traits may influence acoustic communication and cultural evolution in closely related species. Overall, the thesis demonstrates the efficacy and potential of individual acoustic monitoring for studying bird behaviour and ecology, advocating for its broader implementation in species conservation and management. The findings emphasize the need for such non-invasive monitoring methods in both research and conservation, particularly for species in challenging environments. Finally, this thesis highlights the complexities of acoustic signal evolution and the significance of geographic and ecological factors in shaping vocal behaviour, contributing to a broader understanding of song variation and cultural evolution in migratory and sedentary birds.

ABSTRAKT

Individualita v hlasových projevech je zásadní pro komunikaci zvířat a usnadňuje rozpoznávání jedinců v rámci různých taxonů i sociálních kontextů. Tato disertační práce se zaměřuje na dva sesterské druhy pěvců, lindušku úhorní (*Anthus campestris*) a lindušku kanárskou (*A. berthelotii*), a na jejich příkladě se zabývá rolí hlasové individuality v chování, ekologii a ochraně ptačích druhů. Vzájemně propojené studie v této práci hodnotí potenciál individuálního akustického monitoringu (IAM) jako neinvazivní metody pro výzkum a ochranu těchto druhů.

První kapitola zkoumá vhodnost IAM pro samce i samice lindušky úhorní, stěhovavého druhu, kriticky ohroženého ve střední Evropě. Studie potvrzuje, že lindušky úhorní mají jednoduché, individuálně odlišné zpěvy, které jsou stabilní v rámci sezóny i meziročně. Výsledky podporují předpoklad, že IAM může být spolehlivým přístupem k monitorování nejen tohoto druhu, ale i dalších pěvců s malým repertoárem a jednoduchými zpěvy.

V návaznosti na tyto poznatky druhá kapitola testuje, zda běžně používaná metoda odchytu pěvců do nárazové sítě za pomoci playbackové nahrávky dlouhodobě ovlivňuje následné chování odchycených samců lindušky úhorní. Výsledky ukazují, že si samci pamatují negativní zkušenosti spojené s odchytem až pět let a chovají se odlišně od těch, kteří nikdy odchyceni nebyli. Studie poukazuje na potenciál IAM, který umožňuje sledovat jedince bez potřeby odchytu. Může tak být vhodnou alternativou jak při ochranářských projektech vyžadujících dlouhodobé sledování jedinců, tak při výzkumu, kde je nutné jedince rozlišovat.

Třetí kapitola rozšiřuje metodologii ověřenou v první kapitole na lindušky kanárské a potvrzuje individualitu zpěvu i u tohoto nemigrujícího endemického druhu makaronéských ostrovů. Dále porovnává variabilitu zpěvů lindušek úhorních a kanárských napříč různými prostorovými škálami a vyhodnocuje rozdíly mezi oběma druhy, jež by mohly být výsledkem odlišného migračního chování obou druhů a míry izolace jejich populací. Oproti našemu očekávání jsme ani u jednoho druhu nenašli charakteristiky zpěvu specifické pro konkrétní region. To by mohlo být důsledkem velmi rychlé kulturní evoluce jednoduchého a přitom individuálně specifického zpěvu, která vede k rychlé akumulaci odchylek a přemaže případné efekty zakladatele. Oba druhy vykazují nárůst odlišnosti zpěvu na větších geografických škálách, ale tento efekt je výraznější u lindušek kanárských. U nich byla největší podobnost zpěvu na nejmenší lokální škále, což může být důsledek jejich sedentarity, a naopak největší rozdíly byly mezi poddruhy z Madeiry a Kanárských ostrovů. Tato srovnávací studie naznačuje, jak mohou rozdíly v ekologii a životních strategiích ovlivňovat hlasovou komunikaci a kulturní evoluci zpěvu sesterských druhů.

Celkově tato disertační práce prokazuje účinnost a potenciál IAM pro studium chování a ekologie ptáků a poukazuje na vhodnost širšího využití takových neinvazivních monitorovacích metod ve výzkumu, ochraně přírody a managementu ohrožených druhů. V neposlední řadě poukazuje na složitost evoluce akustických signálů a vlivu geografických a ekologických faktorů na utváření hlasových projevů, čímž přispívá k širšímu pochopení variability a evoluce zpěvu stěhovavých i stálých ptáků.

INTRODUCTION

Individuality in acoustic signals

Individual recognition primarily relies on individuality – the existence of consistent differences in appearance, smell, sound, and behaviour between individuals, making them distinctive from one another. The presence of individually unique patterns in vocalizations can serve as an acoustic channel for individual recognition as observed in many animals using individual vocal identification to communicate during various social contexts, such as territorial conflicts, mating, parent-offspring interactions, and cooperative breeding (Godard 1991; Crowley et al. 1996; Insley 2000; Tibbetts & Dale 2007; Bradbury & Vehrencamp 2012).

While vocal signatures play an important role in social interactions, the degree of individuality in vocal cues has been largely reported in species living in large social groups, where the need to be distinct is more evident. For example, dolphins use unique signature whistles to identify and interact with specific individuals within their pods (Janik & Sayigh, 2013). Similarly, elephants produce distinctive vocalizations that function as "names", enabling them to address specific members of their social groups (Pardo et al. 2024). Bats primarily use the echoes of echolocation calls to navigate their environment, but species such as the Greater Mouse-eared bats (*Myotis myotis*) also exhibit individual-specific features in their echolocation calls to recognize conspecifies and maintain social bonds within their colonies (Yovel et al. 2009). In large colonies, such as those of penguins and pinnipeds, individual vocal recognition is crucial for parental care and social cohesion (Aubin et al. 2000; Aubin & Jouventin 2002). Among birds, corvid species exhibit individual and group recognition based on acoustic cues, highlighting the role of vocalizations in maintaining social cohesion and individual identity (Hopp et al. 2001; Kondo et al. 2010; Kondo et al. 2012; Boeckle et al. 2012; Sierro et al. 2020).

Even solitary animals or those living in pairs show high individuality in their vocal signatures, such as vocalizations used during territorial defence, mate attraction, and individual recognition among conspecifics. Vocal individuality has been documented across various vertebrate species, including frogs (Bee & Gerhardt 2001; 2002; Feng et al. 2009), manatees (Sousa-Lima et al. 2022; 2008; Merchan et al. 2019), tapirs (Walb et al. 2021), and birds (Osiejuk et al. 2007; Wilson & Mennill 2010; Petrusková et al. 2016, Chen et al. 2020). Remarkable variation among individuals has been revealed in bird species. For example, up to 1000 unique individual vocal signatures can potentially be encoded by a sample size of 104 male Corncrakes (*Crex crex*; Budka & Osiejuk 2013; Linhart et al. 2019), showing the high level of

individuality within this species. These studies support that, like highly social animals, solitary animals also possess individually distinct acoustic signals. Besides, an analysis of over 200 studies on individual vocalizations across various bird and mammal species indicates that individuality is most pronounced in acoustic signals related to sexual selection (e.g., mate attraction and territorial defence) compared to those used for communication within social groups (P. Linhart, unpublished results). While this observation aligns with previous theoretical studies (Johnstone, 1997; Thom & Dytham 2012), it has also been suggested that the evolution of individual acoustic vocalizations may be shaped simultaneously by both sexual and social selection within the same bird species (Keen et al. 2016). Overall, these insights suggest that the primary evolutionary drivers of individuality in animal acoustic signals are still not fully understood.

While the processes affecting acoustic individuality vary among species, its practical role in wildlife conservation is promising. Vocal signatures have been effectively used for monitoring bird individuals to assess population density, survival rates in sedentary species, return rates in migratory species, and changes in territorial dynamics and replacements (Laiolo et al. 2007; Vögeli et al. 2008; Adi et al. 2010; Kirschel et al. 2011; Petrusková et al. 2016). Due to its non-invasive approach, individual acoustic monitoring (IAM), monitoring based on the analyses of individual vocal cues, can be used on wild species with fewer concerns about impacts on the behaviour of target individuals (reviewed in Terry et al. 2005) and might even provide more accurate information about behaviour or population dynamics than classical methods, or effectively complement them (e.g., Laiolo et al. 2007; Petrusková et al. 2016). However, IAM has not been used very frequently despite the advantages it offers. This could be because methods of acoustic individual identification were closely tailored to a single species with little attention paid to developing more general approaches that could be used across different species (Linhart et al. 2019).

Although individually distinctive vocalizations have been reported in several taxa (e.g. Bee & Gerhardt 2001; Janik & Sayigh 2013; Petrusková et al. 2016; Merchan et al. 2019; Pardo et al. 2024), most of the work using acoustic signatures to study behaviour and ecology has been traditionally focused on birds (Terry et al. 2005). Within birds, although a few studies have confirmed the efficiency of IAM in passerine species (Laiolo et al. 2007; Vögeli et al. 2008; Adi et al. 2010; Kirschel et al. 2011; Petrusková et al. 2016), research is mostly limited to non-passerine species with simple vocalizations such as Great Bitterns (*Botaurus stellaris*), ducks and owls (Gilbert et al. 2002; Volodin et al. 2005; Galeotti & Sacchi 2001; Tripp & Otter 2006; Grava et al. 2008; Choi et al. 2019). This could be because the implementation of IAM for passerines with higher song complexity is time-intensive, especially at the beginning, when the temporal stability and individual uniqueness of target species' song must be evaluated (Petrusková et al. 2016).

Besides, IAM on passerines has mostly focused, if not only, on male individuals. The phenomenon of females singing has been traditionally overlooked, especially in temperate zones where studies on female songs are much less prevalent than in the tropics (Langmore 1998; Odom et al. 2014; Hall & Langmore 2017). This could be because female birds in temperate areas are quiet and visually cryptic (Price 2019), might only sing for very short periods during the breeding season (e.g., McDonald & Greenberg 1991), and in many species, males and females cannot be visually distinguished (Langmore 1998; Hahn et al. 2013; Odom & Benedict 2018). Nevertheless, in some temperate songbird species, not only has it been shown that females sing, as recently documented in one of the most studied model species, the Blue Tit (*Cyanistes caeruleus*; Sierro et al. 2022), but also that songs can be used to discriminate between males and females (Yamaguchi 1998). In such cases, acoustic monitoring might also provide reliable information about the sex of the vocalizing individuals.

In **Chapter 1**, we evaluated the suitability of IAM for both male and female of the Tawny Pipit (*Anthus campestris*), a migratory Palearctic species critically endangered in Central Europe for which occasional female singing was documented (Neuschulz 1986). Our study, conducted in the only remaining population for this species in Czechia, situated in an active surface coal mine area, confirmed that Tawny Pipits have simple and individually distinct songs. Although no-sex specific differences between the songs of male and female individuals were found, Tawny Pipits songs are, at least for males, temporally stable within and between seasons. These findings thus support IAM as a reliable, non-invasive approach for studying the behaviour and ecology of passerine species with a small repertoire and simple songs. This study also serves as a proof of concept for applying IAM to Tawny Pipits. We validated our methodology for both ringed and non-ringed individuals by first testing assumptions on song individuality and temporal stability in a subset of ringed males and females, and then extending these findings to non-ringed individuals.

While the insights in **Chapter 1** leave the door open to considering less intrusive alternatives like IAM, why is there such a need to implement this approach in Tawny Pipits? In **Chapter 2**, we evaluated the long-term effects of playback-associated mist netting on the behaviour of male Tawny Pipits from the same population. Traditional mark-recapture methods involve physical manipulation that may negatively impact individuals' health (Marco et al. 2006; Mulcahy et al. 2011; Spotswood et al. 2012) and affect behaviour (Linhart et al. 2012; Camacho et al. 2017; Seress et al. 2017; Budka et al. 2019). Previous studies have also reported cumulative effects of the playback lure plus capturing and handling on the subsequent behaviour of birds (e.g. Linhart et al. 2012; Budka et al. 2019). Given this and based on incidental field experience that suggested the increased difficulty of recapturing once-caught males (e.g. to retrieve attached geolocators; V. Beran pers. comm.), we hypothesized in **Chapter 2** that mist netting after

playback influences males' behaviour in comparable situations later in life. Through playback experiments simulating territorial intrusion of conspecifics, our study provided evidence that male Tawny Pipits remember conditions associated with one-time negative experience. They appear to retain the memory of having been lured into mist-nets by playback of a conspecific song (a common bird ringing technique) for several years and modify their subsequent behavioural response to a similar stimulus. Specifically, there were no differences in the responses of males captured and ringed one to two years before to the experiment compared to those captured up to five years before, and all differed from naïve males with no previous capture experience. To our knowledge, such long-term memory of a single event in passerines has only been demonstrated in corvids (Johnson 1994; Marzluff et al. 2010; Blum et al. 2020), not for much smaller migratory species.

Ringing in this population usually involves capturing and handling by using mist-net and playback luring, practices that **Chapter 2** demonstrates to have an influence on in future capturing events, and consequently, affect the estimates of mark-recapture methods. This has implications for a wide range of ornithologists, as well as for researchers focusing on territorial behaviour, memory and vocalization. These results also reinforce the conclusions of **Chapter 1**. Tawny Pipits are undergoing a severe population decline in Central and Western Europe (Briedis et al. 2016; Tyler & Christie 2020), with only one remaining breeding population in Czechia, situated in an active coal mine area. This population, comprising about 200 breeding pairs, has been intensively monitored since 2012 (Briedis et al. 2016; Beran et al. 2018). However, monitoring in the coal quarries is challenging due to habitat fragmentation, limited accessibility to the species' territories, and the high level of anthropogenic disturbance. Considering insights from **Chapters 1 and 2**, we stablish IAM as a valuable non-invasive method that can replace commonly used monitoring practices, even in harsh mining landscapes.

Building on the findings of **Chapter 1**, our study reveals that song learning in Tawny Pipits is age-limited, resulting in individually distinct and stable songs after the learning phase. This has been also proven by our research group in another pipit species, the Tree Pipit (*A. trivialis*; Petrusková et al. 2016). Furthermore, song-learning capabilities appear to be conserved among closely related songbird species (Catchpole & Slater 2008). Given this background, and based on our initial visual inspection of songs, we hypothesized that our conclusions regarding individuality and temporal stability in Tawny Pipits could potentially extend to their sister species, the Berthelot's Pipit (*A. berthelotii*). Building upon our reliable method established in **Chapter 1** for identifying Tawny Pipits by their songs, which was validated for non-ringed individuality, we applied the same approach to non-ringed Berthelot's Pipits. This enabled us to confirm song individuality

in Berthelot's Pipits (**Chapter 3**), thereby enhancing our understanding of patterns of song variation at the individual level in both Tawny and Berthelot's Pipits.

Having established individually unique acoustic signatures for Tawny and Berthelot's Pipits, we scaled up our project to study and compare song variation at geographic scales in both species (**Chapter 3**). This endeavour involved recording bird songs across diverse landscapes in central and southern Europe, as well as in oceanic islands with warm, subtropical climates. This comparative study added depth to our research and allowed us to increase our understanding of song variation in migratory and sedentary pipit species from a broader point of view.

Scaling up: Song variation across geographic scales

Oscine passerines use song for species recognition and intraspecific interactions, such as mate attraction and territorial defence. Song development in these birds is influenced by vocal learning and is culturally transmitted, resulting in significant song variation within and between species (Slater & Ince 1979; Podos et al. 2004; Lachlan et al. 2018). Through learning from parents and neighbours, cultural transmission can maintain specific song types within populations over generations (Marler & Tamura 1964; Baptista 1977; Baptista & Morton 1988). However, song learning strategies in oscine species vary in copying strategy and timing of learning (Beecher & Brenowitz 2005; Brenowitz & Beecher 2005), which may be directly related to geographic song variation.

Song learning between neighbouring groups of birds that might interact with each other can result in different patterns of song sharing between conspecifics in the same location, ranging from a complete overlap of song types to no sharing at all (Handley & Nelson 2005; Catchpole & Slater 2008). Song variation at this scale is referred to as microgeographic variation, as contrasted against macrogeographic variation (Mundinger, 1982) which refers to between populations separated by many kilometres, where individuals are unlikely to encounter each other (Catchpole & Slater 2008).

Geographic variation can manifest in several ways, including differences in song complexity, specific song phrases, and the functions of song features. For example, Singh and Price (2015) examined two Himalayan warbler species and found that song complexity increases with latitude, suggesting that environmental factors like habitat structure and ambient noise levels may drive these differences, leading to distinct regional dialects within species. Additionally, studies on White-crowned Sparrows (*Zonotrichia leucophrys*) and Savannah Sparrows (*Passerculus sandwichensis*) have shown that specific song elements play crucial roles in individual and local identity. Nelson (2017) found that the introductory whistle phrase, presumed to have

an alerting function, does not vary geographically. In contrast, the note complex phrase and the trill phrase, which are used for individual recognition among territory neighbours and to indicate geographic origin, respectively, show geographic variation. Furthermore, Williams et al. (2019) demonstrated that the buzz segment of Savannah Sparrow songs acts as a population marker, highlighting the role of specific song elements in local population identification. These studies indicate that selective pressures acting on different aspects of bird acoustic communication can lead to diverse patterns of geographic variation. Therefore, studying geographic variation in birdsong might provide valuable insights into the relationship between geographic signal variation, reproductive isolation, and speciation.

Bird songs, being culturally transmitted, can diverge more rapidly than genetic traits and thus serve as early indicators of speciation (Irwin & Price 1999). This divergence can also contribute to speciation by promoting prezygotic reproductive isolation. Divergence in bird songs is often driven by strong selective pressures. According to the Acoustic Adaptation Hypothesis (Morton 1975), song traits that optimize sound transmission in specific habitats are favoured in song evolution. For instance, low-frequency sounds transmit further and are less absorbed by trunks and leaves in dense vegetation environments. However, it is important to note that a recent global analysis on song frequency including most passerine species (Mikula et al. 2021) contradicts the hypothesis. While the approach followed by this study lacks detailed information on bird behaviour, habitat density, and habitat characteristics at each recording site, it suggests that there may be other factors at work that cause shifts in body size affecting sound properties, such as sexual and natural selection.

Sexual selection may also play an important role in song evolution. For example, song complexity and repertoires in songbird species can be influenced either by female mate choice (MacDougall-Shackleton 1997; Catchpole et al. 1984; Catchpole 1986; Buchanan and Catchpole 1997; Reid et al. 2004) or by male-male competition (Slater 2003, Beecher & Brenowitz 2005). In addition, selection on parts of the vocal apparatus used for non-vocal functions may have secondary effects on song evolution. An example of this is the indirect evolution of song as a consequence of beak evolution in Darwin's finches of the Galápagos Islands (Podos & Warren 2007). Vocal parameters such as trill rate and frequency bandwidth have been observed to correlate with beak morphology (Podos 2001; Podos & Nowicki 2004; Huber & Podos 2006), which in Darwin's finches varies with food availability and interspecific competition (Grant & Grant 1995; 2002; 2006).

Cultural evolution of learned vocalizations is strongly influenced by the choice of tutors. In songbirds, juveniles can learn from a large number of singing males around them, making them more likely to adopt a common song variant—a phenomenon known as conformist bias (Morgan et al., 2012). This, combined

with moderately precise learning, leads to stable traditions in bird populations (Lachlan et al., 2018). On the other hand, imprecise song learning can result in strong cultural drift, accelerating song divergence and potentially contributing to allopatric speciation when populations become geographically isolated by various barriers (Lachlan & Servedio, 2004).

Because oceanic islands are geographically discrete units, they provide suitable systems to understand evolutionary diversification processes. On archipelagos, populations are smaller and less connected; when coupled with other conditions, this leads to differences in the effects of evolutionary processes between island and mainland systems. This also applies to cultural evolution, with the isolation of islands enabling us to observe how populations within species evolve their cultures independently (e.g. Emerson 2002; Parker et al. 2012; Lachlan et al. 2013; Illera et al. 2014). Considering this, songbirds with recently founded and spatially isolated populations are suitable models for studying acoustic and genetic differentiation because each colonization event represents an independent evolutionary episode.

The evolution of acoustic signals in insular birds remains poorly understood, especially when compared to their mainland relatives. Robert et al. (2021) analysed the acoustic signals of 22 island endemic bird species endemic to the islands of São Tomé and Madeira and their closest mainland relatives in Mount Cameroon and southern France. They found some trends indicating a decrease in song complexity on islands compared to mainland areas. In contrast, Price (2008) reviewed 15 studies and found that only 8 showed a decrease in song complexity in island species. Similarly, Morinay et al. (2013) found no consistent pattern of reduced complexity or vocal performance in their comparison of 49 pairs of island-mainland relatives, and Robert et al. (2022) found no differences in syllable diversity, syllable rate, or song duration between 11 pairs of island and continental relatives. These inconsistent results suggest that previous studies comparing island and continental bird song are inconclusive, and that further research is needed to gain more insight into differences in acoustic signals between closely related species from island and mainland systems.

The Tawny Pipit and the Berthelot's Pipit, sister species in the genus *Anthus* (Motacillidae), present a suitable system to study and compare evolution of song. They are closely related genetically (Voelker 1999) and sing simple songs; however, they differ in history of population isolation and migration behaviour. Tawny Pipits are trans-Saharan migrants, widespread in the Palearctic (Briedis et al. 2016), while Berthelot's Pipits are strictly sedentary taxon endemic to Macaronesian islands (Martín & Lorenzo 2001; see section on "Study species" for details). Therefore, these two sister pipit species provided a suitable framework for exploring spatial patterns of song variation in sedentary and migratory species across different geographic scales (**Chapter 3**).

In **Chapter 3**, we expected to find clear geographically structured song variation in both studied pipit species, a phenomenon well-documented in many passerine species. For example, Barišić et al. (2018) reported that regional dialects are defined by the final part of the song in Black-headed Buntings (*Emberiza melanocephala*) across populations along the Adriatic Sea, a feature also observed to show distinct regional characteristics in other *Emberiza* species, such as the Yellowhammer (*Emberiza cintrinella*; Petrusková et al. 2015; Diblíková et al. 2023) and the Cinnamon-breasted Bunting (*Emberiza tahapisi*; Osiejuk 2011). Within the genus *Anthus*, Petrusková et al. (2010) studied geographic song variation in five different Czech populations of the Tree Pipit (*Anthus trivialis*), showing clear regional differences in their song. Contrary to our expectations, both Tawny and Berthelot's Pipits showed lack of clear, geographically structured song variation.

Previous genetic studies on Berthelot's Pipit populations have shown limited gene flow and clear phenotypic variation between archipelagos (Illera et al. 2007; Spurgin et al. 2014; Armstrong et al. 2018; Martin et al. 2021). Additionally, gene flow is also quite restricted between island populations within the same archipelago (Martin et al. 2021). Given these findings, we anticipated observing greater song divergence between populations from the Canaries and Madeira compared to populations from different islands within the same archipelago, reflecting the colonisation trajectory pattern. In contrast, Illera et al. (2014) conducted a study on sedentary populations of another passerine species, the Spectacled Warbler (Sylvia conspicillata), and found no clear genetic, morphological, or acoustic differentiation among populations across three Macaronesian archipelagos. Our study, however, found that the mean song dissimilarity between geographically distant individuals (from different archipelagos) was significantly higher than between birds within the same archipelago, thereby aligning our initial expectations. While our approach was based on the comparison of structural differences in song, the acoustic analysis of Illera et al. (2014) was based on measurements of spectro-temporal parameters, which may not sufficiently capture variation in the structural characteristics of songs. Additionally, the genetic structure of Berthelot's Pipit populations is clearly different from the one described for Spectacled Warblers. These differences may explain the discrepancy between the results of the two studies.

Both species exhibited high intrapopulation song variation and increased mean song differentiation over larger geographic scales. Although we did not observe differences in patterns of song similarity on medium spatial scales, these patterns varied between species at smaller scales, which might be due to their different migratory strategies. Berthelot's Pipit songs were generally more similar among neighbouring and nearby individuals (up to 3.5 km) than between those birds considered at any other larger scale. In contrast, Tawny Pipit songs did not differ in similarity between nearby individuals and those further away from the same field site. This effect can likely be attributed to the sedentary nature of Berthelot's Pipits.

In oscine passerines, juveniles learn songs from adult tutors, such as parents and neighbours (Slater & Ince, 1979; Podos et al., 2004). The song learning process, however, can be influenced by the migratory behaviour of each species. In sedentary species, the distribution of potential tutors is more stable, reinforcing local song traditions among individuals in the same area. For example, Hansen (1999) found long-term stability in the song elements of Yellowhammers (Emberiza citrinella), indicating that stable territorial behaviour helps maintain local song traditions. Similarly, Goodale and Podos (2010) documented the persistence of song types in Darwin's finches (Geospiza fortis) over four decades, underscoring the role of stable populations in preserving song types. In contrast, migratory birds may learn songs from a broader range of individuals during breeding, wintering, and migration (Hultsch & Todt 2004; Beecher & Brenowitz 2005). Additionally, several studies have shown that song sharing among neighbours is higher in sedentary species than in migratory ones (Ewert & Kroodsma 1994; Kroodsma & James 1994; Kroodsma et al. 1999; Wilson et al. 2000; Nelson et al. 2001; Handley & Nelson 2005). For instance, in Zonotrichia sparrows, migratory subspecies do not form dialects (Nelson 1999), while sedentary subspecies exhibit geographic song variation (Baker 1982; Searcy et al. 2022). Thus, we can infer that the differences in song learning opportunities between sedentary and migratory species also apply to Berthelot's and Tawny Pipits, contributing to the distinct patterns of local-scale song variation observed in these species.

Despite our results, it is important to note that high levels of song similarity, specifically song sharing, can also be found at small geographical scales in bird species, regardless of their migratory behaviour. Briefer et al. (2008) found that resident male Skylarks (*Alauda arvensis*) show high syllable sharing with neighbouring individuals, but very little sharing with those just 2 km away. Similarly, Hensel et al. (2002) found that migratory Savannah Sparrows show greater acoustic similarity to neighbours within a few hundred metres than to distant individuals within the same island population, suggesting that this is primarily due to the high degree of natal site philopatry in this species. Additionally, in Black Redstarts (*Phoenicurus ochruros*), song sharing occurs among individuals within small areas but rarely between those separated by distances ranging from a few hundred metres to a maximum of 2.4 km, leading to stable songs forming local microdialects (Draganoiu et al. 2014). These findings demonstrate that small-scale patterns of acoustic similarity may be present in both migratory and non-migratory passerine species.

OVERVIEW OF CHAPTERS AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

- **Chapter 1**: The main aim of this chapter was to validate the potential of using Tawny Pipits for individual acoustic monitoring by assessing the individuality and temporal stability of their songs. To achieve this, we used data from a long-term monitored population, the only remaining one in Czechia. Given that learning abilities might be conserved between genetically close congeners, we expected that our findings on the temporal stability of Tawny Pipit songs could potentially be extended to Berthelot's Pipits.

- Chapter 2: The aim of this chapter was to determine whether Tawny Pipits remember conditions associated with previous negative capture experiences. Our previous observations while monitoring this species in the field suggested increased difficulty in recapturing previously caught male individuals. We therefore hypothesized that capture methods using mist nets and playbacks would affect the behaviour of males in similar situations later in life. Specifically, we predicted that previously captured individuals would be more cautious and less aggressive than those who had never been captured. Findings from this chapter could potentially support the use of less intrusive alternatives, such as individual acoustic monitoring, to study and monitor this species.

- **Chapter 3**: The main aim of this chapter was to explore the intraspecific geographic variation of song in Tawny and Berthelot's Pipits, two sister species with simple song structure but different natural histories and population dynamics, across Europe and Macaronesia. We hypothesized that migration strategy and population isolation would affect song type sharing, increasing song variation in a gradient from sparse, highly isolated island populations (Berthelot's Pipits) to dense migratory populations (Tawny Pipits). We therefore expected differences in song similarity between geographically distant populations and regions for both species. Specifically for Berthelot's Pipits, we hypothesized strong song divergence between different islands, particularly between populations from different archipelagos. Consequently, we anticipated lower within-island variation compared to between-island variation, and lower variation between islands within the same archipelago compared to islands from different archipelagos.

PIPITS AS MODEL SPECIES

The Tawny Pipit (*Anthus campestris*) and Berthelot's Pipit (*A. berthelotii*) are two sister species of the genus *Anthus* (Passeriformes: Motacillidae; Fig. 1), which comprises over 40 species distributed worldwide (Voelker 1999, Fitzpatrick et al. 2004). Berthelot's Pipit diverged from its sister species about 2.5 million years ago by colonizing the Canary Islands from mainland Africa (Voelker 1999). A more recent colonization (ca. 8.000 years ago) from the Canaries to Madeira and Selvagens took place in two independent, northward colonization waves (Illera et al. 2007; Spurgin et al. 2014; Armstrong et al. 2018; Martin et al. 2021) and has resulted in clear genetic and phenotypic variation among archipelagos. The initial colonization by a small number of individuals led to a reduction in genetic variation due to founder effects while subsequent population bottlenecks further diminished this genetic diversity (Spurgin et al. 2014; González-Quevedo et al. 2015; Amstrong et al. 2018). Currently, there are two subspecies recognized within Berthelot's Pipit based on morphological differences: *A. b. berthelotii* (the Canary and Selvagens islands) and *A. b. madeirensis* (Madeiran Archipelago; Martín & Lorenzo 2001).



Figure 1. Pictures of the study species, the Tawny Pipit (left) and the Berthelot's Pipit (right). Photographs credit: Adam Petrusek.

These two pipit species have very similar songs; however, they differ in history of population isolation and migratory behaviour. Tawny Pipits are trans-Saharan migrants widespread in the Palearctic (Briedis et al. 2016). Although their centre of distribution is the Mediterranean basin, they are currently undergoing a population decline in Western and Central Europe mainly because of habitat loss through conversion to forestry, intensification of agriculture and abandonment of farmland (Birdlife International 2020). On the

other hand, Berthelot's Pipits are a strictly sedentary taxon endemic to three of the Macaronesian archipelagos: Madeira, Selvagens and the Canary Islands (Martín & Lorenzo 2001). Songs in both species are short (on average ca. 0.5 s for Tawny Pipits and ca. 0.3 s for Berthelot's Pipits) and have simple structures composed of several elements forming a simple song type; although birds singing two song types in populations of both species have been observed but always in low proportions (Fig. 2 **Chapter 1**; **Chapter 3**). Tawny Pipit songs are known to be individually unique (Neuschulz 1986; Osiejuk et al. 2007; **Chapter 1**) and temporally stable (**Chapter 1**). Although Berthelot's Pipit's songs have been less studied, they are also individually unique (**Chapter 3**) and potentially stable over time (JOC, AP, TP; unpublished data).



Figure 2. Spectrograms illustrating the variation of song types of Tawny Pipit (A) and Berthelot's Pipit (B), and individuals from the studied populations across Europe and Macaronesia, respectively. Origin of each bird with countries indicated by 2-letter ISO codes is shown. Spectrograms no. 3 & 4 and 5 & 6 in A show structurally similar song types sung by Tawny Pipits from the different and the same field sites, respectively. Spectrograms no. 5 & 6 and 2 & 3 in B illustrate corresponding patterns in Berthelot's Pipits males from the different and the same island, respectively. No. 7 in B shows two distinct song types sung by a Berthelot's Pipit male from La Palma, no. 9 unusually high variation among song renditions by a single male from Fuerteventura. (The latter bird was represented by the leftmost variant in all analyses, except of that of within-individual song stability) – Chapter 3.

Both species require for their breeding bare ground with sparse vegetation cover. During the breeding season, Tawny Pipits occur in dry open habitats with low vegetation, such as fallow agricultural land, dry

steppe, sandy heaths, coastal sand-dunes, and dry mountain slopes (Alström & Mild 2003; Fig. 3). This species shows a wide altitudinal range, although in Europe they mostly breed at low altitudes between 500-1000 meters (Alström and Mild 2003; Calero-Riestra & García 2019). Berthelot's Pipits are found in several types of open habitat such as rocky areas in plains, hillsides with some vegetation, clearings in wooded areas and scrubby slopes from sea level up to alpine habitats at elevations of 2500 m above sea level (Illera 2007; Illera et al. 2007; Fig. 4). Both species are territorial and socially monogamous with no sexual dimorphism. The song, which is very similar between the two species (Alström & Mild 2003; **Chapter 3**), should therefore be critical for male success in territorial defence and mate attraction for the two species.



Figure 3. Pictures of the field sites where Tawny Pipits were recorded – Gran Sasso National Park, IT (A); Altos de Barahona, ES (B); Mount Parnassus, GR (C); Coal mines near Most, CZ (D); Rincón de Ademuz, ES (E); and Agios Mamas marsh, GR (F, G). Photographs credit: Javier Oñate Casado, Adam Petrusek, and Václav Beran.



Figure 4. Pictures of habitats at some of the islands where Berthelot's Pipits were recorded – Tenerife, ES (A); El Hierro, ES (B, E); Fuerteventura, ES (C); Porto Santo, PT (D); Madeira, PT (F); and Lanzarote, ES (G). Photographs credit: Javier Oñate Casado, and Adam Petrusek.

OUR STUDY SITES

We recorded singing male Tawny Pipits in six different field sites across Europe, specifically in Czechia, Italy, Spain, and Greece (Fig. 5). This allowed us to compile a comprehensive dataset representing Tawny Pipit populations across western, central, and eastern Europe.



Figure 5. Maps showing the distribution of our study sites across mainland Europe for Tawny Pipits (red dots) and the Madeira and Canary archipelagos for Berthelot's Pipits (blue dots). The map on the left is at an enlarged scale to represent in greater detail our study sites in the Madeira islands (archipelago on the top: Madeira, Porto Santo) and in the Canary Islands (archipelago on the bottom: La Palma, Tenerife, Fuerteventura) – Chapter 3.

Song recording in Czechia was restricted to the only remaining Tawny pipit population located in an active brown coal mine area in the Most region (Fig. 3D). In Italy, we focused on a dense, high-elevation population within the Gran Sasso National Park, nestled in the Apennines in central Italy (Fig. 3A). In Greece, we recorded songs at two separate sites The first one was Mount Parnassos, a limestone mountain in central Greece situated in an alpine zone (Fig. 3C), and Agios Mamas, a small coastal wetland with standing water, sand-dunes, and reedbeds located on the Chalkidiki peninsula in northern Greece (Fig. 3F, 3G).

Tawny pipits were also recorded in two different sites in Spain. The first one was Altos de Barahona, a Special Protection Areas (SPAs) site in central Spain relevant for the conservation of steppe birds and characterized by a plateau landscape dominated by short shrubs (< 50 cm), with a high proportion of bare soil, and a smaller area of cultivated fields and scattered trees (Gómez-Catasús et al. 2019; Barrero et al.

2024; Fig. 3B). This site comprises two subpopulations, Altos de Barahona and Paramos de Layna, located about 15-20 km apart, both fostering high population densities (Calero-Riestra & García 2019). We referred to this entire field site as Altos de Barahona since most of the sampled area was within this subpopulation. The second Spanish site was in Rincón de Ademuz, a region in the eastern of the Iberian Peninsula characterized by fragmented habitat and hosting three different populations (Hontanar, Losar, and Pinar) with relatively low densities (Pérez-Granados et al. 2016; Fig. 3E). Each has a range of approximately 200 ha and the distance between them is about 2-4 km (Pérez-Granados 2014).

Additionally, we recorded male Berthelot's Pipits from different populations on three different Canary Islands (La Palma, Tenerife, and Fuerteventura; Fig. 4A, 4C) and two islands of the Madeira Archipelago (Porto Santo and Madeira; Fig. 4D, 4F). This way, we collected song recordings from islands in two different archipelagos, and covering the western, central, and eastern regions of the Canary archipelago. For details on the recording periods and years for each field site (Tawny Pipits) or island (Berthelot's Pipits), see Table 1.

Table 1. Characteristics of study areas (with countries indicated by two-letter ISO codes), recording periods, and the number of recorded males (those with two song types in the repertoires are enumerated in parentheses). Median and maximum distances between males in each area were calculated from birds recorded in the same season. For the field sites with Tawny Pipits, months of recording are provided; all recordings of Berthelot's Pipits were obtained in mid- to late February of the respective years – Chapter 3.

Sp.	Field site / Island	Location	Altitudinal range (m)	Median / max. distance (km)	Years recorded	No. males
Tawny Pipit	Coal mines (CZ)	50.3–50.55°N, 13.31–13.64°E	150–370	3.8 / 29.4	2015–2017, 2021 (early May to mid- July)	81 (3)
	Gran Sasso (IT)	42.34–42.45°N 13.54–13.75°E	1400–2210	3.9 / 15.7	2019, 2020 (early to mid-July)	63 (1)
	Altos de Barahona (ES)	41.09–41.35°N 2.33–2.82°W	1030–1220	19.3 / 45.4	2021, 2022 (mid to late May)	95 (3)
	Rincón de Ademuz (ES)	39.95–40.17°N 1.32–1.4°W	1000–1200	3.9 / 25.2	2021, 2022 (mid to late May)	51 (6)
	Agios Mamas (GR)	40.22–40.54°N 22.82–23.34°E	0–580	22 / 52.7	2023 (mid-May to early June)	18 (1)
	Mount Parnassos (GR)	38.49–38.57°N 22.54–22.61°E	1160–2120	3 / 9.3	2023 (mid-May to early June)	32 (2)
Berthelot's Pipit ¹	Madeira (PT)	32.71–32.82°N 16.7–17.26°W	0–1660	16.8 / 53.5	2020	38
	Porto Santo (PT)	33.03–33.05°N 16.36–16.39°W	50–140	1.1 / 2.7	2020	25
	Fuerteventura (ES)	28.05–28.66°N 13.83–14.39°W	0–370	21.7 / 84.1	2022	75
	Tenerife (ES)	28.01–28.53°N 16.15–16.85°W	0–2310	24.9 / 76.9	2021	139
	La Palma (ES)	28.46–28.85°N 17.77–17.99°W	0–910	16.9 / 44.7	2021	99 (1)

¹ Although not detailed in any of the chapters, we also collected song recordings of Berthelot's Pipits from the remaining Canary Islands – Lanzarote, La Graciosa, Gran Canaria, La Gomera, and El Hierro – during the course of this thesis. This effort resulted in the recording of more than 1000 Berthelot's Pipits, effectively covering the entire Canary Archipelago and almost the entire range of this species, with the exception of the Selvagen Islands and the Deserta Grande in the Madeira Archipelago (see section on "Conclusion and future directions" for details).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Our studies have improved the understanding of song variation in two sister pipit species, both with simple songs but different natural histories and migratory strategies, at multiple scales, from individual-level differences to geographic song variation across the species' distribution range.

We demonstrated that the songs of male and female Tawny Pipits are individually unique and suitable for IAM (**Chapter 1**). This less-intrusive monitoring approach should be preferred over traditional mark-recapture methods, which we found to negatively impact Tawny Pipit behaviour (**Chapter 2**). Although we demonstrated that both males and females have individual acoustic signatures, we could not distinguish between the sexes based on their song, either by direct observation in the field or quantitative analysis. However, the possibility that the birds themselves can distinguish between male and female songs remains, requiring further studies using playback experiments.

The IAM methodology we tested and successfully applied at our Czech coal mines field site (**Chapter 1**) has also been recently tested in another stable, isolated Tawny Pipit population in the gravel pits of the Pandorf Plain (ca. 60 km from the south-east of Vienna, Austria; Wendelin et al. 2022). Our preliminary results indicate that IAM can be easily implemented in this area and may be more efficient than traditional methods for estimating population density, territorial dynamics, and survival and return rates. Obtaining songs from this and other isolated populations will improve our understanding of how population isolation influences intraspecific song variation in Tawny Pipits.

Our IAM approach used a shotgun directional microphone connected to a Marantz PMD 661 recorder, providing high-resolution, accurate data on bird song. Such data allow researchers to capture the nuances of individual variations in song, resulting in a comprehensive acoustic profile of individuals within a species, as demonstrated for the Tawny and Berthelot's Pipits in **Chapters 1 and 3**, respectively. These detailed recordings are invaluable for training and calibrating passive acoustic recorders, which can then be deployed over larger areas and longer periods to collect data more efficiently. Additionally, the high-quality data obtained from directional microphones can be used as a reference for developing and fine-tuning automated or semi-automated analyses using machine learning (e.g. Stowell et al. 2019; Xie et al. 2019). Algorithms can be trained on these recordings to recognize the specific acoustic signatures of individual birds within a species, facilitating the detection and identification of individuals from passive recordings. In this way, machine learning models can improve the accuracy and reliability of monitoring efforts using passive acoustic recorders.

Moreover, individual acoustic monitoring helps in understanding the variability in vocalizations at the individual level, which is crucial for machine learning models to account for, when identifying individuals in different acoustic environments. This dual approach—using detailed directional microphone recordings as training sets for broader passive acoustic monitoring and machine learning analyses—provides a robust framework for studying and conserving bird populations across different species.

While we demonstrated that male Berthelot's Pipits have individually unique songs (**Chapter 3**), we could not assess the temporal stability of their songs within this thesis. However, we recorded songs from a subset of Berthelot's Pipits in several localities in Tenerife and La Gomera over multiple breeding seasons. A future study focusing on the temporal assessment of Berthelot's Pipit songs will provide further evidence to confirm their presumed stability over time. Within this chapter, we also suggested that the lack of region-specific song structures in Tawny and Berthelot's Pipits might result from high song variation at the individual level. Although we were unable to visually or quantitatively distinguish between songs from different geographic origins in our pipit species, it is possible that the birds themselves can detect these differences. Future studies on these species should use playback experiments to verify whether the birds can distinguish between songs from different geographic origins.

Migratory behaviour significantly influences geographic song variation at different scales in migratory and sedentary passerines (**Chapter 3**). However, other aspects of natural history and ecology differ between Tawny and Berthelot's Pipits and could have influenced our results. To ascertain that song variation is influenced by migratory strategies, comparing populations of the same species that differ in this respect is ideal. We propose two suitable candidates within the genus *Anthus* – the Meadow Pipit (*A. pratensis*) and the Rock Pipit (*A. petrosus*), both species with most populations being European migrants, but with some being year-round residents (Alström & Mild 2003). Additionally, as discussed in **Chapter 3**, the impact of migratory connectivity, site fidelity and natal philopatry on song variation in Tawny Pipit populations remains unclear. Further investigation is therefore needed to determine the extent to which these factors contribute to song variation within and between populations. Investigation into these aspects could also be extended to other avian species in which song is learned.

During this thesis, we also recorded Berthelot's Pipits in the five Canary Islands not included in Chapter 3 (La Gomera, El Hierro, Gran Canaria, Lanzarote, and La Graciosa), thus sampling across all the Canary Islands. Over 1000 Berthelot's Pipits were recorded, nearly covering the entire range of the species except for the Selvagens Islands and the island of Deserta Grande in the Madeira Archipelago. Although we briefly visited Deserta Grande, we were unable to record the songs of the pipits we encountered there. The

original plan for this thesis included recording on Selvagem Grande, but COVID-19 restrictions and logistical challenges prevented us from obtaining the necessary permits.

Regardless of the feasibility of future data collection in the Selvagens archipelago, our current dataset is comprehensive, including songs from most islands within the species' range, including all major islands from two of the three archipelagos in Macaronesia (Canaries and Madeira). Using these data, we can compare islands along the Canary Archipelago, considering their varied degrees of isolation from the African continent. Future additions of recordings from Selvagem Grande would allow comparisons among three archipelagos (Canaries, Madeira and Selvagens), to test for acoustic differentiation. Moreover, we would be able to contrast the degree of song divergence with morphological divergence, as the populations from Selvagens and the Canaries have been assigned to different subspecies of *A. berthelotii* than those from the Madeira archipelago. This robust dataset will enable a detailed future study of the song of *Anthus berthelotii* and facilitate a comparison of geographic song variation across Macaronesia with the known colonization history based on genetic data.

While we have made significant progress in exploring acoustic individuality and geographic song variation in passerines, many aspects of these topics remain unresolved. Our findings provide a strong foundation for continued exploration into the relationships between avian song, ecology, and evolution, providing valuable insights for the scientific community.

REFERENCES

Adi, K., Johnson, M. T., Osiejuk, T. S. 2010. Acoustic censusing using automatic vocalization classification and identity recognition. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 127: 874-883.

Alström, P. & Mild, K. 2003. Pipits and Wagtails of Europe, Asia and North America. Christopher Helm, 496 pp.

Armstrong, C., Richardson, D. S., Hipperson, H., Horsburgh, G. J., Küpper, C., Percival-Alwyn, L., Clark, M., Burke, T., Spurgin, L. G. 2018. Genomic associations with bill length and disease reveal drift and selection across island bird populations. Evolution Letters, 2: 22-36.

Aubin, T., Jouventin, P., Hildebrand, C. 2000. Penguins use the two-voice system to recognize each other. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 267: 1081-1087.

Aubin, T. & Jouventin, P. 2022. How to vocally identify kin in a crowd: The penguin model. Advances in the Study of Behavior, 31: 243-277.

Baker, M. C. 1982. Vocal Dialect Recognition and Population Genetic Consequences. American Zoologist, 22: 561-569.

Baptista, L. F. 1977. Geographic variation in songs and dialects of the Puget Sound White-crowned Sparrow (*Zonotrichia leucophrys nuttalli*). Condor, 79: 356-370.

Baptista, L. F. & Morton, E. S. 1988. Song learning in White-crowned Sparrows: from whom and when: Animal Behavior, 36: 1753-1764.

Barrero, A., Gómez-Catasús, J., Pérez-Granados, C., Bustillo-De la Rosa, D., Traba, J. 2024. Conspecific density and habitat quality drive the defence and vocal behaviour of a territorial passerine. Ibis, 166: 826-843.

Barišić, S., Ćiković, D., Tutiš, V., Kralj, J., Hoi, H. 2018. Song structure and variability in the Black-headed Bunting (*Emberiza melanocephala*). Journal of Ornithology, 159: 389-400.

Bee, M. A. & Gerhardt, H. C. 2001. Neighbour-stranger discrimination by territorial male bullfrogs (*Rana catesbeiana*): I. Acoustic basis. Animal Behaviour, 62: 1129-1140.

Bee, M. A. & Gerhardt, H. C. 2002. Individual voice recognition in a territorial frog (*Rana catesbeiana*). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London: Series B. Biological Sciences, 269: 1443-1448. Beecher, M. D. & Brenowitz, E. A. 2005. Functional aspects of song learning in songbirds. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 20: 143-149.

Beran, V., Poledíková, K., Poledník, L., Porteš, M., Růžička, T. 2018. Certified methodology for planning management measures and creating suitable habitats for European Pipit in active mining area. [In Czech with English summary.]. ALKA Wildlife ops.

BirdLife International. 2020. Species factsheet: *Anthus campestris*. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org on 23/10/2020.

Blum, C. R., Fitch, W. T., Bugnyar, T. 2020. Rapid learning and long-term memory for dangerous humans in Ravens (*Corvus corax*). Frontiers in Psychology, 11: 581794.

Boeckle, M., Szipl, G., Bugnyar, T. 2012. Who wants food? Individual characteristics in raven yells. Animal Behaviour, 84: 1123-1130.

Bradbury, J. W. & Vehrencamp, S. L. 2012. Principles of animal communication. Animal Behaviour, 83: 865-866.

Brenowitz, E. A. & Beecher, M. D. 2005. Song learning in birds: diversity and plasticity, opportunities and challenges. Trends in Neurosciences, 28: 127-132.

Briedis, M., Beran, V., Hahn, S., Adamík, P. 2016. Annual cycle and migration strategies of a habitat specialist, the Tawny Pipit *Anthus campestris*, revealed by geolocators. Journal of Ornithology, 157: 619-626.

Briefer, E., Aubin, T., Lehongre, K., Rybak, F. 2008. How to identify dear enemies: The group signature in the complex song of the skylark *Alauda arvensis*. Journal of Experimental Biology, 211: 317-326.

Buchanan, K. L. & Catchpole, C. K. 1997. Female choice in sedge warbler, *Acrocephalus schoenobaenus*: multiple cues from song and territory quality. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B, 264: 521-526.

Budka, M. & Osiejuk, T. S. 2013. Formant frequencies are acoustic cues to caller discrimination and are a weak indicator of the body size of corncrake males. Ethology, 119: 960-969.

Budka, M., Matyjasiak, P., Typiak, J., Okołowski, M., Zagalska-Neubauer, M. 2019. Experienced males modify their behaviour during playback: The case of the chaffinch. Journal of Ornithology, 160: 673-684.

Calero-Riestra, M., García, J. T. 2019. Bisbita campestre-*Anthus campestris*. In: Enciclopedia Virtual de los Vertebrados Españoles. López, P., Martín, J. & Morales, M. B. (Eds.). Museo Nacional de Ciencias Naturales, Madrid. http://www.vertebradosibericos.org/ on 10/06/2024.

Camacho, C., Canal, D., Potti, J. 2017. Lifelong effects of trapping experience lead to age-biased sampling: Lessons from a wild bird population. Animal Behaviour, 130: 133-139.

Catchpole, C. K., Dittami, J., Leisler, B. 1984. Differential responses to male song repertoires in female songbirds implanted with oestradiol. Nature, 312: 563-564.

Catchpole, C. K. 1986. Song repertoires and reproductive success in the great reed warbler *Acrocephalus arundinaceus*. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 19: 439-445.

Catchpole, C. & Slater, P. J. B. 2008. Bird Song: Biological themes and variations. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Chen, G., Xia, C., Zhang, Y. 2020. Individual identification of birds with complex songs: The case of green-backed flycatchers *Ficedula elisae*. Behavioral Processes, 173: 104063.

Choi, W., Lee, J. H., Sung, H. C. 2019. A case study of male tawny owl (*Strix aluco*) vocalizations in South Korea: call feature, individuality, and the potential use for census. Animal Cells and Systems, 23: 90-96.

Crowley, P. H., Provencher, L., Sloane, S., Dugatkin, L. A., Spohn, B., Rogers., Rogers, L., Alfieri, M. 1996. Evolving cooperation: the role of individual recognition. Biosystems, 37: 49-66.

Diblíková, L., Pipek, P., Vosolsobě, S., Petrusek, A., Petrusková, T. 2023. Reevaluation of dialect boundaries in the Yellowhammer (*Emberiza citrinella*) based on citizen science data: Should we split or lump? Avian Research, 14: 100115.

Emerson, B. C. 2002. Evolution on oceanic islands: molecular phylogenetic approaches to understanding pattern and process. Molecular Ecology, 11: 951-966.

Draganoiu, T. I., Moreau, A., Ravaux, L., Bonckaert, W., Mathevon, N. 2014. Song stability and neighbour recognition in a migratory songbird, the black redstart. Behaviour, 151 435-453.

Ewert, D. N. & Kroodsma, D. E. 1994. Song sharing and repertoires among migratory and resident rufous-sided towhees. Condor, 96: 190-196.

Feng, A. S., Riede, T., Arch, V. S., Yu, Z. L., Xu, Z. M., Yu, X. J., Jun-Xian, S. 2009. Diversity of the Vocal Signals of Concave-Eared Torrent Frogs (*Odorrana tormota*): Evidence for Individual Signatures. Ethology, 115: 1015-1028.

Fitzpatrick, J. W., Bates, J. W., Bostwick, K. S., Caballero, I. C., Clock, M., Farnsworth, A., Hosner, P. A.,
Joseph, L., Langham G.M., Lebbin, D. J., Mobley, J. A., Robbins, M. B., Scholes, E., Tello, J. G., Walther,
B. A., & Zimmer, K. J. 2004. Family Motacillidae (Pipits and Wagtails). In: Handbook of the Birds of the
World – Volume 9. Cotingas to Pipits and Wagtails. del Hoyo J., Elliot, A. & Christie, D. A. (Eds.). Lynx
Editions, Barcelona, pp. 686-787.

Galeotti, P. & Sacchi, R. 2001. Turnover of territorial Scops Owls *Otus scops* as estimated by spectrographic analyses of male hoots. Journal of Avian Biology, 32: 256-262.

Gilbert, G., Tyler, G., Smith, K. 2002. Local annual survival of booming male Great Bittern *Botaurus stellaris* in Britain, in the period 1990–1999. Ibis, 144: 51-61.

Godard, R. 1991. Long-term memory of individual neighbors in a migratory songbird. Nature, 350: 228-229.

Gómez-Catasús, J., Garza, V., Morales, M. B., Traba, J. 2019. Hierarchical habitat-use by an endangered steppe bird in fragmented landscapes is associated with large connected patches and high food availability. Scientific Reports, 9: 19010.

González-Quevedo, C., Spurgin, L. G., Illera, J. C., Richardson, D. S. 2015. Drift, not selection, shapes tolllike receptor variation among oceanic island populations. Molecular Ecology, 24: 5852-5863.

Goodale, E. & Podos, J. 2010. Persistence of song types in Darwin's finches, *Geospiza fortis*, over four decades. Biology Letters, 6: 589-592.

Grant, P. R. & Grant, B. R. 1995. Predicting microevolutionary responses to directional selection on heritable variation. Evolution, 49: 241-251.

Grant, P. R. & Grant, B. R. 2002. Unpredictable evolution in a 30-year study of Darwin's finches. Science, 296: 707-711.

Grant, P. R. & Grant, B. R. 2006. Evolution of character displacement in Darwin's finches. Science, 313: 224-226.

Grava, T., Mathevon, N., Place, E., Balluet, P. 2008. Individual acoustic monitoring of the European Eagle Owl *Bubo bubo*. Ibis, 150: 279-287. Hall, M. L. & Langmore, N. E. 2017. Editorial: Fitness costs and benefits of female song. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 5: 1-3.

Handley, H. G. & Nelson, D. A. 2005. Ecological and phylogenetic effects on song sharing in songbirds. Ethology, 111: 221-238.

Hahn, A. H., Krysler, A., Sturdy, C. B. 2013. Female song in black-capped chickadees (*Poecile atricapillus*): acoustic song features that contain individual identity information and sex differences. Behavioural Process, 98: 98-105.

Hansen, P. 1999. Long-term stability of song elements in the Yellowhammer *Emberiza citrinella*. Bioacoustics, 9: 281-295.

Hensel, L. J., Dobney, S. L., Doucet, S. M., Norris, D. R., Newman, A. E. M., Williams, H., Mennill, D. J. 2022. Microgeographical variation in birdsong: Savannah sparrows exhibit microdialects in an island population. Animal Behaviour, 188: 119-131.

Huber, S. K. & Podos, J. 2006. Beak morphology and song production covary in a population of Darwin's finches. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, 88: 489-498.

Hultsch, H. & Todt, D. 2004. Learning to sing. In: Nature's music: The Science of Birdsong. Marler, P. & Slabbekoorn, H. (Eds.). Academic Press, New York.

Hopp, S. L., Jablonski, P., Brown, J. L. 2001. Recognition of group membership by voice in Mexican jays, *Aphelocoma ultramarina*. Animal Behaviour, 62: 297-303.

Illera, J. C. 2007. Bisbita Caminero *Anthus berthelotii*. In: Atlas de las aves nidificantes en el archipiélago canario (1997–2003). Lorenzo, J. A. (Ed). General de Conservación de la Naturaleza-Sociedad Española de Ornitología, Madrid, pp. 344-347.

Illera, J.C., Emerson, B.C., Richardson, D.S. 2007. Population history of Berthelot's pipit: colonization, gene flow and morphological divergence in Macaronesia. Molecular Ecology, 16: 4599-4612.

Illera, J. C., Palmero, A. M., Laiolo, P., Rodriguez, F., Moreno, A. C., Navascúes, M. 2014. Genetic, morphological, and acoustic evidence reveals lack of diversification in the colonization process in an island bird. Evolution, 68: 2259-2274.

Insley, S. J. 2000. Long-term vocal recognition in the northern fur seal. Nature, 406: 404-405.

Irwin, D.E. & Price T. 1999. Sexual imprinting, learning and speciation. Heredity, 82: 347-354.

Janik, V. M. & Sayigh, L. S. 2013. Communication in bottlenose dolphins: 50 years of signature whistle research. Journal of Comparative Physiology A, 1996: 479-489.

Johnson, R. J. 1994. American crows. In: The handbook: Prevention and control of wildlife damage. Hygnstrom, S. E., Timm, R. M. & Larson, G. E. (Eds.). University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Nebraska.

Johnstone, R. A. 1997. Recognition and the evolution of distinctive signatures: when does it pay to reveal identity? Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 264: 1547-1553.

Keen, S., Meliza, C.D., Pilowsky, J. A., Rubenstein, D. R. 2016. Song in a social and sexual context: vocalizations signal identity and rank in both sexes of a cooperative breeder. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 4: 46.

Kirschel, A. N. G., Cody, M. L., Harlow, Z. T., Promponas, V. J., Vallejo, E. E., Taylor, C. E. 2011. Territorial dynamics of Mexican Ant-thrushes *Formicarius moniliger* revealed by individual recognition of their songs. Ibis, 153: 255-268.

Kondo, N., Izawa, E. I., Watanabe, S. 2010. Perceptual mechanism for vocal individual recognition in jungle crows (*Corvus macrorhynchos*): Contact call signature and discrimination. Behaviour, 147: 1051-1072.

Kondo, N., Izawa, E. I., Watanabe, S. 2012. Crows cross-modally recognize group members but not nongroup members. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 279: 1937-1942.

Kroodsma, D. E. & James, F. C. 1994. Song variation within and among populations of red-winged blackbirds. The Wilson Bulletin, 106: 156-162.

Kroodsma, D. E., Sánchez, J., Stemple, D., Goodwin, E., Da Silva, M. L., Vielliard, J. 1999. Sedentary life style of neotropical sedge wrens promotes song imitation. Animal Behaviour, 57: 855-863.

Lachlan, R. F. & Servedio, M. R. 2004. Song learning accelerates allopatric speciation. Evolution, 58: 2049-2063.

Lachlan, R. F., Verzijden, M.N., Bernard, C.S, Jonker, P., Koese, B., Jaarsma, S., Spoor, W., Slater, P. J. B., Cate, C. t. 2013. The progressive loss of syntactical structure in bird song along an island colonization chain. Current Biology, 23: 1896-1901.

Lachlan, R. F., Ratmann, O., Nowicki, S. 2018. Cultural conformity generates extremely stable traditions in bird song. Nature Communications, 9: 2417.

Laiolo, P., Vögeli, M., Serrano, D., Tella, J. L. 2007. Testing acoustic versus physical marking: two complementary methods for individual based monitoring of elusive species. Journal of Avian Biology, 38: 672-681.

Langmore, N. E. 1998. Functions of duet and solo songs of female birds. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 13: 136-140.

Linhart P., Osiejuk T. S., Budka M., Šálek M., Špinka M., Policht R., Syrová, M., Blumstein, D. T. 2019. Measuring individual identity information in animal signals: overview and performance of available identity metrics. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 10: 1558-1570.

Linhart, P., Fuchs, R., Poláková, S., Slabbekoorn, H. 2012. Once bitten twice shy: Long-term behavioural changes caused by trapping experience in Willow Warblers *Phylloscopus trochilus*. Journal of Avian Biology, 43: 186-192.

MacDougall-Shackleton, S. A. 1997. Sexual selection and the evolution of song repertoires. Current Ornithology, 14: 81-125.

McDonald, M. V. & Greenberg, R. 1991. Nest departure calls in female songbirds. Condor, 93: 365-373.

Marco, I., Mentaberre, G., Ponjoan, A., Bota, G., Mañosa, S., Lavín, S. 2006. Capture myopathy in Little Bustards after trapping and marking. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 42: 889-891.

Marler, P. & Tamura, M. 1964. Culturally transmitted patterns of vocal behavior in sparrows. Science, 146: 1483-1486.

Martín, A. & Lorenzo, J.A. 2001. Aves del archipiélago canario. Lemus Editor, La Laguna, 787 pp.

Martin, C. A., Arsmstrong, C., Illera, J. C., Emerson, B. C., Richardson, D. S., Spurgin, L. G. 2021. Genomic variation, population history and within-archipelago adaptation between island bird populations. Royal Society Open Science, 8: 201146.

Marzluff, J. M., Walls, J., Cornell, H. N., Withey, J. C., Craig, D. P. 2010. Lasting recognition of threatening people by wild American crows. Animal Behaviour, 79: 699-707.

Merchan, F., Echevers, G., Poveda, H., Sanchez-Galan, J., Guzman, H. M. 2019. Detection and identification of manatee individual vocalizations in Panamanian wetlands using spectrogram clustering. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 146: 1745-1757.

Mikula, P., Valcu, M., Brumm, H., Bulla, M., Forstmeier, W., Petrusková, T., Kempenaers, B., Albrecht, T. 2021. A global analysis of song frequency in passerines provides no support for the acoustic adaptation hypothesis but suggests a role for sexual selection. Ecology Letters, 24: 477-486.

Morgan, T. J. H. & Laland, K. N. 2012. The biological bases of conformity. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 6: 1-7.

Morinay, J., Cardoso, G. C., Doutrelant, C., Covas, R. 2013. The evolution of birdsong on islands. Ecology and Evolution, 3: 5127-5140.

Morton, E. S. 1975. Ecological sources of selection on avian sounds. American Naturalist, 109: 17-34.

Mulcahy, D. M., Gartrell, B., Gill, R. E., Tibbitts, T. L., Ruthrauff, D. R. 2011. Coelomic implantation of satellite transmitters in the Bar-tailed Godwit (*Limosa lapponica*) and the Bristle-thighed Curlew (*Numenius tahitiensis*) using propofol, bupivacaine, and lidocaine. Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine, 42: 54-64.

Mundinger, P. C. 1982. Microgeographic and macrogeographic variation in the acquired vocalizations of birds. In: Acoustic Communication in Birds. Kroodsma, D. E. & Miller, E. H. (Eds.). Academic Press, New York, pp. 147-208.

Nelson, D. A. 1999. Ecological influences on vocal development in the white-crowned sparrow. Animal Behaviour, 58: 21-36.

Nelson, D. A., Khanna, H., Marler, P. 2001. Learning by instruction or selection: implications for patterns of geographic variation in bird song. Behaviour, 138: 1137-1160.

Nelson, D. A. 2017. Geographical variation in song phrases differs with their function in white-crowned sparrow song. Animal Behaviour, 124: 263-271.

Neuschulz, F. 1986. Zum Gesang des männlichen und weiblichen Brachpiepers *Anthus campestris*. [On the song of male and female Tawny Pipit *Anthus campestris*]. Journal of Ornithology, 127: 514-515.

Odom, K. J., Hall, M. L., Riebel, K., Omland, K. E., Langmore, N. E. 2014. Female song is widespread and ancestral in songbirds. Nature Communications, 5: 3379.

Odom, K. J. & Benedict, L. 2018. A call to document female bird songs: applications for diverse fields. Auk, 135: 314-325.

Osiejuk, T. S., Grzybek, J., Tryjanowski, P. 2007. Song structure and repertoire sharing in the Tawny Pipit *Anthus campestris* in Poland. Acta Ornithologica, 42: 157-165.

Osiejuk, T. S. 2011. The song of the Cinnamon-breasted Bunting, *Emberiza tahapisi*, in the Bamenda Highlands (NW Cameroon). Journal of Ornithology, 152: 651-659.

Pardo, M. A., Fristrup, K., Lolchuragi, D. S., Poole, J. H., Granli, P., Moss, C., Douglas-Hamilton, I., Wittemyer, G. 2024. African elephants address one another with individually specific name-like calls. Nature Ecology and Evolution, 8: 1353-1364.

Parker, K. A., Anderson, M. J., Jenkins, P. F., Brunton, D. J. 2012. The effects of translocation-induced isolation and fragmentation on the cultural evolution of bird song. Ecology Letters, 15: 778-785.

Pérez-Granados, C. 2014. Descripción de la avifauna esteparia reproductora e invernal del Rincón de Ademuz (Valencia). [Description of the breeding and wintering avian community in Rincón de Ademuz (Valencia)]. El Serenet, 9: 17-33.

Pérez-Granados, C., Osiejuk, T., López-Iborra, G. M. 2016. Habitat fragmentation effects and variations in repertoire size and degree of song sharing among close Dupont's lark *Chersophilus duponti* populations. Journal of Ornithology, 157: 471-482.

Petrusková, T., Osiejuk, T. S., Petrusek, A. 2010. Geographic variation in songs of the tree pipit (*Anthus trivialis*) at two spatial scales. The Auk, 127: 274-282.

Petrusková, T., Diblíková, L., Pipek, P., Frauendorf, E., Procházka, P., Petrusek, A. 2015. A review of the distribution of yellowhammer (*Emberiza citrinella*) dialects in Europe reveals the lack of a clear macrogeographic pattern. Journal of Ornithology, 156: 263-273.

Petrusková, T., Pišvejcová, I., Kinštová, A., Brinke, t., Petrusek, A. 2016. Repertoire-based individual acoustic monitoring of a migratory passerine bird with complex song as an efficient tool for tracking territorial dynamics and annual return rates. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 7: 274-284.

Podos, J. 2001. Correlated evolution of morphology and vocal signal structure in Darwin's finches. Nature, 409: 185-188.

Podos, J. & Nowicki, S. 2004. Beaks, adaptation, and vocal evolution in Darwin's finches. Bioscience, 54: 501-510.

Podos, J., Huber, S. K., Taft, B. 2004. Bird song: the interface of evolution and mechanism. Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics, 35: 55-87.

Podos, J. & Warren, P. S. 2007. The evolution of geographic variation in birdsong. Advances in the Study of Behaviour, 37: 403-458.

Price, T. 2008. Speciation in birds. Roberts and Company, Greenwood Village, CO.

Price, J. J. 2019. Sex differences in song and plumage color do not evolve through sexual selection alone: new insights from recent research. Journal of Ornithology, 160: 1213-1219.

Reid, J. M., Arcese, P., Cassidy, A. L. E. V., Hiebert, S. M., Smith, J. N., Stoddard, P. K., Marr, A. B., Keller, L. F. 2004. Song repertoire size predicts initial mating success in male song sparrows, *Melospiza melodia*. Animal Behaviour, 68 :1055-1063.

Robert, A., Melo, M., Lengagne, T., Julien, S., Gomez, D., Doutrelant, C. 2021. Patterns of bird song evolution on islands support the character release hypothesis in tropical but not in temperate latitudes. Journal of Evolutionary Biology, 34: 1580-1591.

Robert, A., Lengagne, T., Melo, M., Gomez, D., Doutrelant, C. 2022. Evolution of vocal performance and song complexity in island birds. Journal of Avian Biology, 2022(1).

Searcy, W. A., Nowicki, S., Hughes, M., Peters, S. 2002. Geographic song discrimination in relation to dispersal distances in song sparrows. The American Naturalist, 159: 221-230.

Seress, G., Vincze, E., Pipoly, I., Hammer, T., Papp, S., Preiszner, B., Bókony, V., Liker, A. 2017. Effects of capture and video-recording on the behavior and breeding success of Great Tits in urban and forest habitats. Journal of Field Ornithology, 88: 299-312.

Sierro, J., Loretto, M.-C., Szipl, G., Massen, J. J. M., Bugnyar, T. 2020. Food calling in wild ravens (*Corvus corax*) revisited: Who is addressed? Ethology, 126: 257-266.

Sierro, J., de Kort, S. R., Riebel, K., Hartley, I. R. 2022. Female blue tits sing frequently: a sex comparison of occurrence, context, and structure of song. Behavioral Ecology, 33: 912-925.

Singh, P. & Price, T. D. 2015. Causes of the latitudinal gradient in birdsong complexity assessed from geographical variation within two Himalayan warbler species. Ibis, 157: 511-527.

Slater, P. J. B. & Ince, S. A. 1979. Cultural evolution in chaffinch song. Behaviour, 71: 146-166.

Slater, P. J. B. 2003. Fifty years of bird song research: a case study in animal behaviour. Animal Behaviour, 65: 633-639.

Sousa-Lima, R. S., Paglia, A. P., Da Fonseca, G. A. B. 2002. Signature information and individual recognition in the isolation calls of Amazonian manatees, *Trichechus inunguis* (Mammalia: Sirenia). Animal Behaviour, 63: 301-310.

Sousa-Lima, R. S., Paglia, A. P., Da Fonseca, G. A. B. 2008. Gender, Age, and Identity in the Isolation Calls of Antillean Manatees (*Trichechus manatus manatus*). Aquatic Mammals, 34: 109-122.

Spotswood, E. N., Goodman, K. R., Carlisle, J., Cormier, R. L., Humple, D. L., Rousseau, J., Guers, S. L., Barton, G. G. 2012. How safe is mist netting? Evaluating the risk of injury and mortality to birds. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 3: 29-38.

Spurgin, L. G., Illera, J. C., Jorgensen, T. H., Dawson, D. A., Richardson, D. S. 2014. Genetic and phenotypic divergence in an island bird: isolation by distance, by colonization or by adaptation? Molecular Ecology, 23: 1028-1039.

Stowell D., Petrusková T., Šálek M., Linhart P. 2019. Automatic acoustic identification of individuals in multiple species: improving identification across recording conditions. Journal of the Royal Society Interface, 16: 20180940.

Terry, A. M., Peake, T. M., McGregor, P. K. 2005. The role of vocal individuality in conservation. Frontiers in Zoology, 2: 10.

Thom, M. D. F. & Dytham, C. 2012. Female choosiness leads to the evolution of individually distinctive males. Evolution, 66: 3736-3742.

Tibbetts, E. & Dale, J. 2007. Individual recognition: it is good to be different. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 22: 529-537.

Tripp, T. M. & Otter, K. A. 2006. Vocal individuality as a potential long-term monitoring tool for Western Screech-owls, *Megascops kennicottii*. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 84: 744-753.

Tyler, S. & Christie, D. A. 2020. Tawny Pipit (*Anthus campestris*). In: Birds of the World. del Hoyo, J., Elliott, A., Sargatal, J., Christie, D. A. & de Juana, E. (Eds.). Lynx Editions, Barcelona https://doi.org/10.2173/bow.tawpip1.01 on 02/07/2024.

Voelker, G. 1999. Dispersal, vicariance and clocks: historical biogeography and speciation in a cosmopolitan passerine genus (*Anthus:Motacillidae*). Evolution, 53: 1536-1552.

Vögeli, M., Laiolo, P., Serrano, D., Tella, J. L. 2008. Who are we sampling? Apparent survival differs between methods in a secretive species. Oikos, 117: 1816-1823.

Volodin, I. A., Volodina, E. V., Klenova, A. V., Filatova, O. A. 2005. Individual and sexual differences in the calls of the monomorphic White-faced Whistling Duck *Dendrocygna viduata*. Acta Ornithologica, 40: 43-52.

Walb, R., von Fersen, L., Meijer, T., Hammerschmidt, K. 2021. Individual differences in the vocal communication of Malayan Tapirs (*Tapirus indicus*) considering familiarity and relatedness. Animals, 11: 1026.

Wendelin, B., Berg, H-M., Dvorak M. 2022. Monitoring von Bestand und Verbreitung des Brachpiepers (*Anthus campestris*) im nördlichen Burgenland Zwischenbericht über die Jahre 2021 und 2022. Birdlife Österreich, Wien.

Williams, H., Robins, C. W., Norris, D. R., Newman, A. E. M., Freeman-Gallant, C. R., Wheelwright, N. T., Mennill, D. J. 2019. The buzz segment of Savannah sparrow song is a population marker. Journal of Ornithology, 160: 217-27.

Wilson, D. R. & Mennill, D. J. 2010. Black-capped chickadees, *Poecile atricapillus*, can use individually distinctive songs to discriminate among conspecifics. Animal Behaviour, 79: 1267-1275.

Wilson, P. L., Towner, M. C., Vehrencamp, S. L. 2000. Survival and song-type sharing in a sedentary subspecies of the song sparrow. The Condor, 102: 355-363.

Xie, J., Yang, J., Ding, C., Li, W. 2019. High accuracy individual identification model of Crested Ibis (*Nipponia Nippon*) based on autoencoder with self-attention. IEEE Access, 8: 41062-41070.

Yamaguchi, A. 1998. A sexually dimorphic learned birdsong in the Northern Cardinal. The Condor, 100: 504-511.

Yovel, Y., Melcon, M. L., Franz, M. O., Denzinger, A., Schnitzler, H. U. 2009. The voice of bats: how greater mouse-eared bats recognize individuals based on their echolocation calls. PLOS Computational Biology, 5:e1000400.

Chapter 1

Oñate-Casado, J., Porteš, M., Beran, V., Petrusek, A., Petrusková, T. (2023). Guess who? Evaluating individual acoustic monitoring for males and females of the Tawny Pipit, a migratory passerine bird with a simple song. *Journal of Ornithology*, 164: 845–858.



Male Tawny Pipit singing during the breeding season in the Gran Sasso and Laga Mountains National Park (Italy), 2020.

Chapter 2

Oñate-Casado, J., Porteš, M., Beran, V., Petrusek, A., Petrusková, T. (2021). An experience to remember: lifelong effects of playback-based trapping on behaviour of a migratory passerine bird. *Animal Behaviour*, 182: 19–29.



A Tawny Pipit individual approaching a loudspeaker during a playback experiment conducted in a population in the coal mines near Most, Czechia.

Chapter 3

Oñate-Casado, J., Porteš, M., Beran, V., Pérez-Granados, C., Traba, J., Barrero, A., Sakhalkar, S. P., Petrusek, A., Petrusková, T. (manuscript submitted). When individuality obscures geographic song variation: a comparison of two passerine sister species with different migratory strategies.



Berthelot's Pipit perching during sunset, Tenerife (Canary Islands, Spain), 2021.



Sunset at Playa de Cofete, Fuerteventura (Canary Islands, Spain).



Oñate-Casado, J. (2024). Patterns in geographic song variation in migratory and sedentary passerines: A comparison of two sister pipit species. Doctoral dissertation, Department of Ecology, Faculty of Science, Charles University, Viničná 7, 128 00 Prague, Czechia.

